
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a City Council Meeting on 

Tuesday, April 21, 2020 in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 

DUE TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC, THIS MEETING IS CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC BUT 

WILL BE BROADCAST VIA CABLE CHANNEL 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL 

SOME CITY COUNCILORS WILL BE PARTICIPATING VIA THE ZOOM APPLICATION 

1. Roll Call 

2. Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Public Forum (Comments can be submitted to the Clerk prior to 6 pm on the day of the 

meeting to be read at the meeting. Comments must include the individuals name and address) 

5. Minutes  

a. City Council Regular Meeting – March 23, 2020 

b. City Council Regular Meeting – April 6, 2020 

6. Finances 

a. March Financial Report 

7. New Business & Adoption of Ordinances and Resolutions 

a. Resolution 04-03-2020 Regarding Local Bids Preference 

8. Bid Awards, Appointments & Recognitions 

a. Spirit of America Award Nomination 
b. 
c. 

Four Separate Public Works Bid Awards for Sand, Paint, Culverts, & Asphalt work 
Local Economid Stimulus Package 

9. Old Business 
a. Discussion Regarding Charter Amendments to the Budget Process 

10. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

11. City Manager’s Report 

12. Reports by Staff and Appointed Officials 

a. Tax Notice Form Options – City Assessor 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under Maine Revised Statutes, 

Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Economic development and Real Estate under 6.C – Charter Communications Franchise 

14. Next Meeting(s): May 4 & 18 

15. Adjournment 

If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and, due to a disability, need assistance in 
understanding or participating in the meeting, please notify the City ten or more hours in advance and 
we will, within reason, provide what assistance may be required. 

Certificate of Mailing/Posting 

The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a 

copy of the foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City 

noticing procedures. 

BY: ____________________________________ Jayne R. Farrin, City Clerk 

 

Pgs 2-5 

Pgs 6-9 

Pgs 10-28 

Pgs 29-39 

Pg 40 

Pg 41 
Pg 42  
 
Pg 43  
 
Pgs 44-46 

 
Pgs 47-49 

 

 

1



March 23, 2020 

 

 
        20-09 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular meeting Monday, March 23, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. 

in Council Chambers with the following members present: Mayor R. Mark Goughan, 

Deputy Mayor Thomas Ayer, Joan L. Theriault, Nicole L. Cote, Hugh A. Kirkpatrick, 

and Douglas C. Morrell.  Jody R. Smith was absent and excused. 

Dennis L. Marker, City Manager was present. 

Department Managers and Staff:  None. 

Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, this meeting was closed to the public and was 

broadcasted via Spectrum and Caribou’s YouTube Channel. 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Goughan read an invocation. 

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance  

The Mayor led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

The Mayor commented that the Council considered not have the meeting but decided to 

go forward with the public as long as sound and video was working. 

• Darren Woods, Director of the Aroostook County Emergency Management – 

Councilor Kirkpatrick read an excerpt of an email from Director Woods.  He 

wants to bring to the attention of the Council the seriousness of the current 

situation with COVID-19.  He noted that Chief Gahagan is the local EMA 

Director. 

• Jayne R. Farrin, City Clerk – Encouraged tax club participates to put their 

monthly payments in the mail rather than dropping them off at City Office.  There 

is a June 9th Primary Election and that it isn’t too early to request an absentee 

ballot.   

Clerk Farrin commented on the proposed Pandemic Leave Policy – “Traveling for 

a family emergency should not be considered as traveling voluntarily.” 

• On-line commenter – noted that City Offices is open, but the Council meeting is 

closed. 

Councilor Theriault noted the requirement of no more than 10 individuals being 

together at one time and that is why the meeting is closed to the public. 

Council Agenda Item #5:  Financial Report for February 2020 

Motion made by H. Kirkpatrick, seconded by N. Cote, to accept the Financial Report for 

February 2020 as presented.  (6 yes)  So voted. 

Council Agenda Item #6:  New Business & Adoption of Ordinances and Resolutions 

a. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Seasonal Weight Limits on Roads 

Motion made by T. Ayer, seconded by D. Morrell, to approve seasonal road weight limits 

of 34,000 pounds for the following road:  Albair Road, Sawyer Road, Thompson Road,  

2



March 23, 2020 

 

        20-09 Pg. 2 

West Gate Road, Maysville Siding Road, Plante Road, Railroad Street, and Dow Siding 

Road.  (6 yes)  So voted. 

b. Discussion Regarding Business Assistance Programs due to COVID-9 

Manager Marker wants local businesses to be aware of federal government programs that 

might be able to help through the Small Business Administration (SBA).  He noted that 

City might be able to assist through the City’s revolving loan fund program which has a 

balance of nearly $800,000.  The Mayor noted that it is too early with too many 

unknowns and directed administration to keep Council informed as to what is happening 

in other communities, what advice is MMA giving, and what is happening at the state and 

federal levels.  He offered that this should be an agenda item going forward. 

To help local businesses, Councilor Kirkpatrick suggested that individuals could go 

purchase gift certificates from area businesses.  Councilor Morrell suggested that a 

workshop on this topic should be held by Council.  The Mayor expressed his thanks to 

the business community. 

c. Discussion Regarding City Leave Policy for Pandemic Situations 

Manager Marker briefly reviewed the newly enacted Families First Coronavirus 

Response Act (FFCRA) and a proposed Pandemic Leave policy for city staff that would 

remain in place until the state’s emergency status is lifted.  The adoption of a Pandemic 

Leave policy would require the Council to adopt by an ordinance..   

Questions from Council included:   

• How will the City recoup wages? 

• What documentation will be required so everyone is treated fairly? 

• Will the City will exempt health care workers? 

• What is MMA’s recommendation and what are other communities doing 

regarding FFCRA? 

• What is the timeline for ordinance adoption? 

Manager Marker noted that the loss to the City is the productivity of accomplishing 

something, but from a budgetary standpoint we’ve already got it in the budget.  Councilor 

Morrell agreed the loss of productivity is a loss to the City.     

Council Agenda Item #8:  Old Business 

a. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding 2020 Revenue Projections 

The 2020 revenue projections were reviewed during the March 9, 2020 Council meeting.  

Since that meeting, the COVID-19 Pandemic has resulted in several federal and state 

edicts that greatly impact the State’s economy and potential tax revenues.  Because of 

this Manager Marker recommended reducing the state revenue sharing projection by 

$100,000 to $825,000 which would bring the 2020 estimated revenues to $10,631,162. 

Discussion points: 

• Possible 2 mil increase due to RSU 39’s Budget 

• Extend an invitation to the Supt. of School to attend a Council meeting 

• Citizens vote on the final RSU 39 Budget 

• This year more of the annual property taxes could be going to the RSU 39 versus 

towards the City’s budget 

 

 3



March 23, 2020 

 

20-09 Pg. 3 

• The alignment of costs between outside communities and the City of Caribou 

concerning Fire & Ambulance has the City receiving an additional $477,000 in 

revenue 

• Members of the RSU 39 Board are elected 

• The new school could be an economic development tool and draw families to the 

area 

• According to the Charter, each year the Revenue Budget is to be adopted by 

March 15th  

Motion made by N. Cote, seconded by J. Theriault, to adopt the proposed 2020 Revenue 

Projections Budget as amended (reducing state revenue sharing by $100,000).  (6 yes)  So 

voted. 

The Mayor offered that these are hard times and that maybe the Expense Budget should 

be looked at.  Councilor Morrell agreed with the Mayor and commented that cuts might 

need to be done. 

b. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding City Membership in the Aroostook 

Area Chamber of Commerce 

Motion made by H. Kirkpatrick, seconded by T. Ayer, pay $2,500 to join the Aroostook 

Area Chamber of Commerce.  (6 yes)  So voted. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Deputy Mayor Ayer:  Planning Board is working on Chapter 13 and it is looking like it 

will be done this year. 

Mayor Goughan:  The Mayor wants to get the Council’s story out to the taxpayer.  He 

suggested the City should send two tax bills in one envelope with one bill for the City 

and the other for RSU 39 and County.  Mayor Goughan asked the manager to investigate 

available options.   

Council Agenda Item #9:  City Manager’s Report 

• Library is closed to the public while the staff continues to work 

• Wellness Center is closed to the public while the staff continues to work 

• Public Works isn’t normally opened to the public 

• Police Department lobby is still open to the public 

• City Office is still open to the public 

• Fire & Ambulance Department lobby is still open to the public 

• Ambulance 22 has been setup as the COVID-19 response vehicle 

• The community has been very supportive of Fire & Ambulance’s request for PPE 

equipment donations. 

Discussed LED conversion, River Road and Public Safety building.  The City is looking 

to setup a business Zoom account.   

Council Agenda Item #10:  Reports by Staff and Appointed Officials 

None. 

Council Agenda Item #11: Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters 

identified under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 1, §405.6) 

 

4



March 23, 2020 

 

 

        20-09 Pg. 4 

a. Personnel Matters Regarding Compensation of City Employees under (6)(A) 

7:43 p.m.  Motion made by T. Ayer, seconded by J. Theriault, to move to executive 

session to discuss personnel matters regarding compensation of City Employees under 

MRSA Title 1, §405(6)(A).  (6 yes)  So voted. 

8:09 p.m.  Council returned from executive session. 

No action was taken. 

b. Economic development and Real Estate under (6)(C) 

8:10 p.m.  Motion made by T. Ayer, seconded by N. Cote, to move to executive session 

to discuss real estate matters under MRSA Title 1, §405(6)(C).  (6 yes)  So voted. 

8:25 p.m.  Council returned from executive session. 

No Action was taken. 

c. Discussion Regarding Collective Bargaining Contract with Police Officers under 

(6)(D) 

Mayor Goughan asked for confirmation that there was no need to have an executive 

session regarding the police union contract.  Manager Marker confirmed that the request 

was made to postpone that discussion until the next meeting.  There was general 

discussion of the grievance process under the union contract and the Council’s role in the 

matter.  It was noted that the Council would need to act in a jury manner and determine if 

the Chief and Manager acted appropriately in the case.  If the grieving party is not 

satisfied with the Council’s decision then the issue could be moved to arbitration.. 

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Meeting(s):  April 6 & 20  

Council Agenda Item #13:  Adjournment 

Motion made by D Morrell, seconded by H. Kirkpatrick, to adjourn the meeting at 8:27 

p.m.  (6 yes)  So voted. 

            

        Jayne R. Farrin, Secretary 

 

5



April 6, 2020 

 

 
        20-11 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular meeting Monday, April 6, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. in 

Council Chambers with the following members present: Mayor R. Mark Goughan, Jody 

R. Smith, and Douglas C. Morrell and via Zoom Deputy Mayor Thomas Ayer, Joan L. 

Theriault, Nicole L. Cote, and Hugh A. Kirkpatrick.   

Dennis L. Marker, City Manager was present in Council Chambers. 

Department Managers and Staff:  Michael Gahagan (Police Chief) in Council Chambers 

and Penny Thompson (Tax Assessor) via Zoom. 

Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, this meeting was closed to the public and was 

broadcasted via Spectrum and Caribou’s YouTube Channel. 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Goughan read an invocation. 

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance  

The Mayor led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Comments were to be submitted to the City Manager or City Clerk prior to 6 p.m. to be 

read during the meeting.  Comments must include the individuals name and address. 

• Roger Felix – Caribou resident – An email from Roger Felix was read by 

Councilor Morrell.  Mr. Felix offered his opinion as to the behavior of a 

Councilor during the March 23, 2020 Council meeting.  He requested an apology 

from the Councilor for his language and behavior. 

• Wilfred Martin - In a phone call to the City Manager expressed his opposition to 

the selling of 60 Access Highway for the proposed amount and that the City 

should investigate additional avenues, such as, as auctioning.   

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting – March 9, 2020 

Motion made by D. Morrell, seconded by J. Smith, to accept the March 9, 2020 Council 

minutes as presented.  (7 yes)  So voted. 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Awards, Appointments & Recognitions 

a. North Main Street Reconstruction 

Motion made by H. Kirkpatrick, seconded by T. Ayer, to accept the bid from Soderberg 

Construction for the North Main Street Reconstruction project and authorize the City 

Manager to execute necessary contract documents.  (7 yes)  So voted. 

Councilor Morrell wants to see the Council have a written policy allowing leeway 

favoring Caribou businesses  

b. 2020 Election Clerks 

Motion made by J. Smith, seconded by J. Theriault, to appoint the following individuals 

as Election Clerks from May 1, 2020 to April 30, 2022: 

 

6



April 6, 2020 

 

        20-11 Pg. 2   

Laura Adams 

Barbara Aiken 

Joan Albert 

Beth-Ann Alden 

Roy Alden 

Donna Barnes 

Janice Beaulieu 

Patricia “Pat” 

Caspersen 

Barbara Collins 

Julie Cook 

Patty Corriveau 

Darylen Cote 

Carole Doody 

Shellie Doody-

Corriveau 

Judith Duprey 

Dale Gordon 

Diane Gove 

Gail Hagelstein 

Meagan Irving 

Holly Nadeau 

Jacqueline 

Lambert 

Elizabeth Long 

Idella Marquis 

Linda 

McLaughlin 

Betty McNeal 

Cheryl Pelletier 

Dawn Peterson 

Roy Pinette 

Stephanie 

Raymond 

John Shaw 

Deborah Sirois 

Nancy Solman 

Andrea 

Swanberg 

Karen 

Thibodeau 

Nancy Todd 

(7 yes)  So voted. 

Council Agenda Item #7:  New Business & Adoption of Ordinances and Resolutions 

a. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Liquor License for Northern Maine 

Brewery  

Motion made H. Kirkpatrick, seconded T. Ayer, to approve the liquor license application 

for Northern Maine Brewery as presented and to authorize the Mayor to sign for all.  (7 

yes)  So voted. 

b. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Renewal of Gil’s Sanitation Rubbish 

Hauling Permit 

Motion made by T. Ayer, seconded by J. Smith to approve the renewal of Gil’s Sanitation 

Rubbish Hauling Permit application as presented.  (7 yes)  So voted. 

c. Resolution 04-01-2020 Recognizing Loring Job Corps for Civic Excellence 

Motion made by D. Morrell, seconded by J. Smith, to adopt Resolution 04-01-2020 

Recognizing the Loring Job Corps Center for Civic Excellence.  (7 yes)  So voted. 

d. Resolution 04-02-2020 Authorizing Participation in the MMA Safety Incentive 

Program 

Motion made by T. Ayer, seconded by J. Theriault, to adopt Resolution 04-02-2020 

Authorizing Participation in the MMA Safety Incentive Program.  (7 yes)  So voted. 

e. Discussion Regarding an Operational Agreement with EMERA in Relation to 

Power Generation Facilities on Lower Lyndon Street 

Manager Marker recommended moving Agenda Item #7.e to Executive Session. 

f. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding 51 Lombard Road Property 

Reclamation 

Motion made by H. Kirkpatrick, seconded by T. Ayer, to sell 51 Lombard Road for 

$5,403.61 and to deed it back to the former owner P. Ronald Thibodeau.  (7 yes)  So 

voted. 

 7



April 6, 2020 

 

        20-11 Pg. 3 

Council Agenda Item #8:   Old Business 

a. Discussion Regarding Business Assistance Programs due to COVID-19 

Manager Marker listed the following resources available for small businesses: 

• Human Resource webinars provided free by BersteinShur.com and Portland 

Region.com 

• State Department of Labor website 

• Central Aroostook Chamber of Commerce website 

• U.S. Chamber’s Small Business Emergency Loans Guides & Checklist 

• Small Business Association has a paycheck protection program 

• Northern Maine Development Commission has gap funding loans available 

• Local banks have loan officers familiar with small business loans 

Councilor Morrill encouraged small business owners to look at the paycheck protection 

program.  Deputy Mayor Ayer stressed that the City needs to get information out through 

the City’s website and Facebook page.  Laura Adams, in the Police Department, is 

tracking the City’s Pandemic expenses.   

b. Discussion Regarding City Leave Policy for Pandemic Situations 

Manager Marker reviewed the proposed Emergency Ordinance #1, 2020 Series. 

Discussion. 

Motion made by N. Cote, seconded by J. Smith, to adopt Emergency Ordinance #1, 2020 

Series, Regarding Employee Leave Policies During Declared Pandemics as presented.  (6 

yes, 1 no, Mayor Goughan)  So voted. 

c. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Sale of 60 Access Highway Property 

Manager Marker recommended moving Agenda Item #8.c to Executive Session. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

None. 

Council Agenda Item #10:  City Manager’s Report 

Tax Assessor Penny Thompson updated the Council on extension of exemption deadlines 

and extension of current use applications deadlines (Open Space, Farmland, Tree Growth, 

and Working Waterfront). 

Manager Marker briefly reviewed his report dated March 20, 2020.  He noted that 

Council could go into executive session later this evening to discuss cable franchise 

renewal and River Road land swap.   

The Mayor told the Manager to add to his report a Charter change vote for November 

ballot about altering the budget adoption timeline. 

Councilor Morrell read a list of items used by other states to attract businesses to their 

state. 

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports by Staff and Appointed Officials 

Clerk Farrin reminded voters that it isn’t too early to request an absentee ballot for the 

Primary Election. 

 8



April 6, 2020 

 

        20-11 Pg. 4 

There is a lock drop off box in the Police Station for Caribou residents to use to drop 

payments and other paperwork.   

Council Agenda Item #12: Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters 

identified under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 1, §405.6) 

b. Discussion Regarding Collective Bargaining Contract with Police Officers under 

(6)(D) 

7:50 p.m.  Motion made by D. Morrell, seconded by J. Theriault, to move to executive 

session with Police Chief Gahagan to discuss collection bargaining contract with police 

officers under MRSA Title 1, §405(6)(D).  (7 yes)  So voted. 

8:40 p.m.  Council returned from executive session. 

Motion made by J. Theriault, seconded by J. Smith, that the Manager draft a letter 

indicating Council support of previous actions taken by the Police Chief and the Manager 

in the matter of Officer LeMoine’s grievance.  (7 yes)  So voted.  

8:43 p.m.  Motion made by D. Morrell, seconded by J. Theriault, to move to executive 

session to discuss personnel matters under MRSA Title 1 §405(6)(A).  (7 yes)  So voted. 

9:00 p.m.  Council returned from executive session. 

No action taken. 

a. Economic development and Real Estate under (6)(C) 

9:00 p.m.  Motion made by D. Morrell, seconded by T. Ayer, to move to executive 

session to discuss real estate matters under MRSA Title 1, §405(6)(C).  (7 yes)  So voted. 

9:37 p.m.  Council returned from executive session. 

Motion made by J. Smith, seconded by T. Ayer, to accept the $130,000 offer for the 60 

Access Highway building.  (7 yes)  So voted. 

Motion made by D. Morrell, seconded by J. Smith, to approve the operational agreement 

between the City and EMERA for the Lower Lyndon properties with the caveat that 

when EMERA pulls their equipment from the building, they will also pull the power 

meters.  (7 yes)  So voted.   

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Meeting(s):  April 20th and May 4th 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Adjournment 

Motion made by D Morrell, seconded by T. Ayer, to adjourn the meeting at 9:43 p.m.  (7 

yes)  So voted. 

            

        Jayne R. Farrin, Secretary, (in Council Chambers) 

      

 

9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

1/1/2017 2/1/2017 3/1/2017 4/1/2017 5/1/2017 6/1/2017 7/1/2017 8/1/2017 9/1/2017 10/1/2017 11/1/2017 12/1/2017

City Cash Flow (2017 – 2020 Q1)

2017 2018 2019 2020 3 Yr Daily Avg

3 Year Annual Average = $2,751,689

3 Yr Low 
(2019) 

$342,431

28



 

 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  

 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Local Preference in Bid Considerations Policy 

DATE:  April 14, 2020 

 

 

DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION ITEM  

 

The following are some points for the Council to consider on the matter of having a local 

preference clause in bid requests. I also recommend the Council review a position paper from the 

Institute for Public Procurement attached below.  

 

From MMA 
Local Preference.  There are no Maine court decisions regarding whether a local bid 

preference is legal. Court decisions in other states and from federal courts suggest that local 

preferences may be lawful if they are rationally related to the advancement of a legitimate 

municipal interest. For example, a municipality might wish to grant a preference to locally 

owned and/or operated businesses because local conditions place them at a competitive 

disadvantage with businesses from other areas. However, in recent years, the courts have 

also held that local ordinances protecting local business can violate the dormant Commerce 

Clause doctrine of the U. S. Constitution. Under this doctrine, the states and their 

subdivisions may not discriminate in interstate commerce unless authorized by Congress. 

Thus, there is some risk that a local preference could be illegal. Moreover, from a practical 

perspective, a preference for local contractors may cost the taxpayers more and so is 

incompatible with the municipal officers' obligation to spend public funds wisely. Therefore, it 

may be better to avoid local preferences in local bidding ordinances and regulations. 

State Preference Language 

State contracts have a preferential allowance based on equivalency. Maine Revised 

Statutes Title 26 §1301 allows for preferential selection of local bidders if the bids are equally 

favorable with bids submitted by non-resident contractors. Furthermore, M.R.S. Title 5 §1825-B 

states that tie bids will be given to Maine bidders if price, quality, availability, and other factors 

are equal. The state does not provide a specific preference amount or percentage basis other than 

if a company from another state bids on a project and that other state has a preferential factor, the 

same factor will be used against the out of state company bidding on the work.  

 

Funding Limitations 

State and Federal dollars require certain bid and selection procedures. A preferential bid 

policy must acknowledge those source elements which may or may not allow for preferential 

considerations. Projects wholly funded with city dollars could utilize the preferential standard.  

 

Escalation 

 If a flat percentage amount is adopted, e.g. 2%, that could result in significant 

costs/windfall to the local contractor depending on the project. Two percent on a new cruiser 

may be $1,000 but on a large road project it could be over $10,000. Would the Council consider 

an adjusting preferential rate? What about just setting a maximum amount? Are projects with a 

low cost even worth having a local preference allowance (e.g. a $5,000 project yields a $100 

preference at 2%)?  

29



 

Preference Considerations 

 

Before determining a preferential amount, it should be stated that the city’s foremost concern in 

this matter is being a wise steward of the tax payor dollars placed in trust with the city. Use of 

those dollars should maximize value by balancing price, quality and performance through 

processes that are transparent and impartial. Any preferential element should be second to a 

determination that the offered goods and/or services are equal to specific, advertised criteria. The 

city may disqualify bidders based on documented concerns with past performance, quality 

control, responsiveness or other factors determined to be important in achieving best value. If all 

products and services are determined to be equivalent, then the city may use a procurement 

preference toward local vendors. 

 

The following are three preference options the Council may consider. Iterations of these may 

also be appropriate based on the Council’s preferences. 

 

#1 Tiered preference 

 For projects less than $10,000 a 2% preference would be given. 

 For projects between $10,000 and $1M the preference would be 1%+$100 

 For projects exceeding $1M the preference would be 0.05%+$5,100 

 Preference not to exceed $50,000. 

 

 The add on values provide consistency in preference at the break points. 

 

#2 Formulaic Preference 

  

The city adopts the following formula: 0.8747 x (bid amount^.679587) to calculate local 

preference allowance. Preference not to exceed $50,000. 

 

This formula provides greater flexibility for local businesses at smaller bid amounts, 

which have less impact on city budgets, but matches the preference at larger amounts. 

 

#3 Limited Preference 

 

 No preferential allowance for bids under $25,000 

For bids greater than $25,000, the city adopts the following formula: 0.8747 x (bid 

amount^.679587) to calculate local preference allowance. Preference not to exceed 

$50,000. 

 

Comparison of Options 

Option Bid Amount 

$100 $1,000 $10,000 $25,000 $100,000 $1,000,000 $10,000,000 

Tiered $2 $20 $200 $350 $1,100 $10,100 $50,000 

% Pref 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 1.4% 1.1% 1.0% 0.5% 

Formula $20 $96 $458 $852 $2190 $10,456 $50,000 

% Pref 20% 9.6% 4.6% 3.4% 2.2% 1.0% 0.5% 

Limited    $852 $2190 $10,456 $50,000 

% Pref    3.4% 2.2% 1.0% 0.5% 

 

Council Actions Needed 

Staff asks that the Council discuss the options and based on their preference make appropriate 

changes before adopting a standard. The following Resolution has been drafted so that the 

Council can insert its final preference.   

30



 

 

 

 

Resolution 04-03-2020 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  

Adopting a Local Preference for Bid Submittals 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Caribou recognizes the importance of being good stewards of public 
dollars; and  
 
WHEREAS, procurement of goods and services should maximize value by balancing price, quality and 
performance through processes that are transparent and impartial; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has many businesses that can provide goods and services equal to non-
local businesses, but may be at a competitive disadvantage due to location from major economic centers, 
supply of materials or other economically beneficial facets of commerce; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou desires to give preferential consideration to local businesses that can 
provide equivalent goods and services compared to non-local vendors on city bid requests. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL, that the City 
Manager, acting as the purchasing agent of the city per City Charter §3.04(11), utilize the following 
preferential procurement policy when considering bid responses. 
 
1. Any preferential element will be second to a determination that offered goods and/or services are 

equal to specific, advertised criteria in a city bid request.  
2. The city may disqualify bidders based on documented concerns with past performance, quality 

control, responsiveness or other factors determined to be important in achieving best value.  
3. If all products and services offered through competitive bid processes are determined to be equivalent, 

then the city will consider price of goods and use a procurement preference toward local vendors as 
follows: 

 
[Council to insert preference criteria based on discussion of preference methods] 
 

4. If all products, services and costs offered through competitive bid processes are equivalent, the City will 
utilize a local vendor.  

5. Use of the preferential standard is subject to any limitations imposed by project funding sources. 
 
 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 

____th day of ___________ 2020.  

 

________________________________  __________________________________ 

R. Mark Goughan, Mayor    Attest: Jayne Farrin, City Clerk 

 

[City Seal]   

 

31



32



NIGP
151 Spring Street
Herndon, Va 20170
703.736.8900

CUSTOMER CARE:
800.367.6447, Ext. 0

ONLINE:
nigp.org
nsite.nigp.org
nigp.org/LinkedIn
facebook.com/OfficialNIGP
twitter.com/OfficialNIGP

Published by NIGP: 
The Institute for Public 
Procurement.

The contents of this 
Position Paper may not be 
reproduced without prior 
written consent of NIGP.

Copyright 2015 NIGP, Inc.

NIGP: THE FOREMOST AUTHORITY IN PUBLIC PROCUREMENT

Since 1944, NIGP has been developing, supporting and promoting the public 
procurement profession. The Institute’s goal: recognition and esteem for the 
government procurement profession and its dedicated practitioners. 

As the foremost authority in public procurement, NIGP is unique for the wealth 
and depth of services offered to its members. Through premier education-
al and research programs, professional support and technical services, and 
time-saving resources, agencies reap the benefits of improved operating ef-
ficiency and expanded organizational capacity. 

Over 15,000 professionals from more than 2,500 local, state, provincial and 
federal government contracting agencies across the United States, Canada 
and countries outside of North America gain immediate value through access 
to our library of thousands of bid-related documents, FREE Webinars and 
the largest network of public procurement professionals in North America.

33



LOCAL PREFERENCE IN PUBLIC PROCUREMENT 

A position paper from NIGP: The Institute for Public Procurement  
On the Importance of Applying a Best Value Analysis When Government Has Adopted Local 

Procurement Preferences 
 

 
INTRODUCTION            

There is a long-standing history of implementing various socioeconomic preference programs in 
government on the federal, state and local level.   Such selective purchasing, in the case of local 
preference, is a decision by the government to direct purchases to certain companies based on location.  
The local preference program is one such program that has generated interest for its impact on the public 
procurement process.  Local preference programs have been established and promoted to benefit the local 
economy.  Upheld by federal and state laws when established to achieve the state interest, the use of such 
local preference programs present advantages and disadvantages for governments in their quest for 
quality, savings, fairness, and efficiency in the procurement of goods and services.   

In general, local preference programs may include, but are not limited to, preferences applied as described 
below.  These preferences are highlighted as vehicles to improving socioeconomic levels in, and adding 
benefits to, local economies.   

• Tie-bids - when the bid of a local bidder is the same amount of that of a non-local bid; 

• Percentage bids - when the local bidder’s bid falls within a certain percentage of that of 
the lowest bid by a non-local bidder; 

• Reciprocal bids - when the local bidder’s bid is reciprocal to that of a bid of non-local 
bidder; and  

• Absolute bids - where the bid is awarded to the local bidder even if it is not lowest bid.   

Any profession, when establishing its ideals, begins the process by considering the perfect situation and 
identifying the fundamental tenets that will contribute to achievement of the perfect situation.  For 
procurement professionals, that situation is evidenced by a well-developed market of many buyers and 
sellers; perfect knowledge of the goods or services required; and sufficient lead time to conduct a fair 
procurement.  In reality, the principles guiding public procurement’s best practices must often consider 
social, political, and economic realities. 

Adequately reconciling local preference policies with public procurement’s guiding principles of 
fostering full and open competition, best value, equity, and impartiality has historically proved 
challenging.  Through this paper, NIGP takes on that historic challenge to articulate a position that is at 
once principled and practical. 

POSITION             

NIGP: The Institute for Public Procurement maintains the position that preference policies, including 
local preferences, conflict with the fundamental public procurement principles of impartiality and full and 
open competition. Therefore, NIGP does not support the use of preference policies.  

34



Local Preference in Public Procurement 
June 2015 
Page 2 of 7 

 

Conversely, NIGP does support economic, social, and sustainable communities as part of the Institute's 
values and guiding principles. Acknowledging that governments may in fact adopt local preferences as a 
tool for improving local economies, NIGP recommends that any local procurement preferences be 
implemented only as one of several criteria in a 'best value' evaluation and award process. Best value 
means the most advantageous balance of price, quality, and performance identified through competitive 
procurement methods in accordance with stated selection criteria. There is no uniform statutory or 
regulatory definition, but it generally refers to a source selection based upon a cost/benefit analysis. The 
application of best value procurement to local purchasing preferences extends the concept of considering 
non-cost items in the evaluation process, and thereby provides the rational basis for including a 
geography-based criteria. 

 
WHAT IS LOCAL PURCHASING?         

Local purchasing is a bid preference which may be given to suppliers doing business in the purchasing 
jurisdiction (NIGP, 2009). Local purchasing is often promoted as a means of benefiting the local 
economy. 

 
ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF LOCAL PREFERENCE PROGRAMS  

Local preference programs have been met with qualified acceptance in the procurement community.  
Communities implementing preference programs have identified both advantages and disadvantages of 
such programs.  Proponents claim advantages that include the following:  (1) achieving local social policy 
goals to assist the local economy, and (2) improving and protecting the local economy.  While 
procurement expenditures may rise in response to a local preference program, governments believe the 
additional costs are outweighed by the support for the development, enrichment, growth, expansion and 
the retention of the local business community, thereby keeping any tax dollars spent on contracts in the 
area. 

Conversely, critics have been vocal about the disadvantages of such programs, such as:  (1) increased cost 
to the local taxpayers and government to implement such a program; (2) limiting supplier competition; (3) 
reducing the incentive for local businesses to provide the best value for the dollar for the purchased 
goods/services; (4) affecting, complicating and potentially burdening the procurement administrative 
processes; (5) defining a defendable fair process to determine the definition of a local business including, 
but not limited to, geographic location requirements, management and ownership control, if necessary, 
and (6) lacking equal opportunity or reciprocity with other jurisdictions. 

 
Literature Review           

Research by Glenn Cummings (2009) published in the Journal of Public Procurement surveyed state and 
local procurement preferences.  The survey documented the range of geographic preferences practiced by 
state and local governments, usage patterns and trends, and analyzed their impact on the recipients and on 
the public procurement process.   The preference laws were enacted in the belief that social and political 
benefits from these programs exceed the cost arising from restricted competition.  Furthermore, a 2009 
study by the National Association of State Purchasing Officials (NASPO) reported that 27 states gave 
preference to resident bidders for government contracts. 

35



Local Preference in Public Procurement 
June 2015 
Page 3 of 7 

Academic research studying the impact of local procurement preference laws is not extensive.  However, 
there is consistent evidence that the economic impact sought through preference laws can be achieved.  
The 2008 study, Local Preference in Municipal Audit Markets, conducted by the Owen Graduate School 
of Management at Vanderbilt University concluded that a local preference law can serve its purpose, in 
that it always increases the likelihood that the local firm wins (Shor, July 2008).  The model used by the 
author “demonstrates that insiders benefit from a local preference at a cost to the outsider through a lower 
chance of winning and a cost to the municipality through higher average prices” (Shor, 2008). 

An honors thesis presented to the Department of Economics at the University of Oregon reviewed several 
scenarios examining the impact of local procurement preferences on the local economy as well as the 
market impact.  Based on the study models, the authors identify an increase in employment in the local 
economy.  The positive effects stemming from local preferences could, however, come with associated 
costs.  Depending on cost differentials between local and non-local firms, the policy creates the potential 
for higher consumer prices, decreased demand, reduced spending, and job loss (Lorelli, June 2003). 

Bid preferences were studied by the University of Pennsylvania, Department of Economics and the 
Wharton School. The study authors found that preference programs result in high-cost companies 
performing a larger share of work and increased procurement costs.  However, these programs also 
provide incentives to non-favored firms to bid more aggressively, offsetting the upward price pressures  
(Seim, April 2009). 

The use of local preferences in North Carolina was studied in 2011; a year after the Governor had signed 
an executive order for such preferences. A survey of localities indicated that local preferences were 
awarded equally among informal purchases for services, goods, or small construction.  Survey 
respondents indicated that goals of preference policy were understood to be promotion of local 
businesses, job creation, increased tax base, sustainability and wealth creation (Jensen, 2011). 

The Government Finance Review (June 2012) conducted a comprehensive review of local preference 
policy outcomes in both cities and counties.  In cities, the preference given to local businesses ranged 
from 1 to 5 percent, with 5 percent being the most frequent.  Counties tended to afford higher percentage 
preferences to local businesses, 5 to 10 percent.  Not surprisingly, cities that maintain local preference 
policies identified ‘local businesses’ as those with city business licenses and locations within city limits. 
Correspondingly, counties that established local preference policies applied the same standards for 
licensing and locations.  One of the main differences between city and county preference policies is that a 
greater number of counties have reciprocal arrangements with other counties.   

Extensive research was conducted in Europe, where progressive integration of social objectives with 
traditional procurement practices is more readily accepted.   The New Economics Foundation (NEF), an 
independent think tank that promotes innovative solutions in economic, environmental and social issues, 
released a report on local procurement preferences in 2005.  The NEF established an economic case for 
promoting revitalization through public spending.  The revitalization benefited the community through 
poverty reduction, increased social inclusion, and governmental savings through local procurement 
preferences. NEF findings indicate that local preference laws kept money circulating in the local economy 
by fostering local economic linkages and raising the capacity and expertise of local residents and 
suppliers (NEF, 2005). 

Anecdotal or paid consultant studies depict a consistent perspective on the issue.  Civic Economics, an 
economic analysis and strategic planning consultancy focused on developing healthy, sustainable 
economies,  has conducted research on behalf of Arizona and other communities.  The reports produced 
by Civic Economics supported the use of local suppliers as they generate greater economic activity than 
chain suppliers  (Civic Economics, 2007).  The applicability of the report is limited as it studies a single 

36



Local Preference in Public Procurement 
June 2015 
Page 4 of 7 

retailer, not a statistically valid sample.  A Special Report prepared by the Florida TaxWatch  (2009) 
estimated one local job loss for every $100,000 worth of online shopping from other states and countries.   

Interestingly, the most staunch opposition to local preference policies comes from procurement 
professionals. NIGP issued Resolution 1016 in 1987, re-affirmed in 1995, that stated the Institute is, 
“opposed to all types of preference law and practice and views it as an impediment to cost effective 
procurement of goods, services and construction in a free enterprise system.” (NIGP, 1987) NASPO, 
likewise “believes that public procurements should be made under conditions that do not restrain markets 
and that foster adequate competition in the market for the item or service purchased”  (NASPO, 2010).  

 
Multiplier Effect 

The economic benefit of keeping local dollars in the local economy is known as the ‘multiplier effect.’  
The concept was developed by John Maynard Keynes in collaboration with other economists in the early 
twentieth century and is used as a means of measuring the economic impact of laws, trade, etc.   Simply 
put, it is a way the government’s spending ripples through the economy. The Keynesian model was 
developed for a national economy.  The NEF adapated the model for use at the local level (local 
multiplier LM3).  The ‘3’ represents three ‘rounds’ of spending.  Round one is the orginal source of the 
funds or the budget, round two is the public body expenditure, and round three captures how the 
recipients spend the money within the local area.  As local tax dollars are spent in a local economy, more 
jobs are maintained or created and income is generated for residents. 

 
Legal Foundation for Local Preference Laws 

Under the federal constitution, local preferences in public procurement typically implicate the commerce 
clause of Article 1, §8 and the equal protection and due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment.    
The courts have found that states violate the commerce clause when they act to regulate commerce to 
benefit in-state economic interests.  However, in situations when the state acts as a market participant, 
similar to private actors in the market, it is immune from attack.   To survive an equal protection 
challenge, a state must produce credible evidence at trial that the classification created by the local 
preference scheme is rationally related to such legitimate state interests.  The courts, as they have 
reviewed the equal protection and due process clauses have applied the “rational basis” legal test.  Under 
this test, “legislation is presumed to be valid and will be sustained if the classification drawn by the 
statute is rationally related to a legitimate state interest” (City of Cleburne, Texas v. Cleburne Living 
Center, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 3254 (1985)). 

24 CFR1 PART 85, Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State, Local 
and Federally Recognized Indian Tribal Governments, identifies a number of procurement standards that 
apply to the expenditure of federal grant funds.  Of note is the prohibition of using “statutorily or 
administratively imposed in-State or local geographical preferences in the evaluation of bid or proposals, 
except in those cases where applicable Federal statutes expressly mandate or encourage geographic 
preference.”  Consequently, state and local grantees may not use valid local preference laws when the 
procurement is funded by the federal government. 

The Arizona Superior Court, Pima County, ruled on the legality of local preferences in November 2014.  
The Court analyzed the constitutional challenges to the Tucson procurement code that provided a 
                                                           
1 “CFR” is the Code of Federal Regulations. 

37



Local Preference in Public Procurement 
June 2015 
Page 5 of 7 

preference for certain bidders of goods and services purchased by the city.  The Court found that the 
preference law violated the Gift Clause of the Arizona Constitution, the Equal Privileges and Immunities 
clause of the Arizona Constitution, the Federal Equal Protection Clause and the Privileges and Immunities 
Clause of the United States Constitution.  The basis of the finding was that the law was not reasonably 
related to furthering a legitimate state purpose, discriminated among bidders for government 
work/services and granted a direct taxpayer subsidy to certain preferred bidders and the City received no 
direct consideration in return.   

 
CONCLUSION            

Upon review of the issue, NIGP maintains the position that local preference policies are in conflict with 
the fundamental public procurement principles of impartiality and full and open competition and, 
therefore, does not support the use of local preference policies as an appropriate tool for improving local 
economies. 

However, acknowledging that governments may, in fact, adopt local preferences as a tool for improving 
local economies unless otherwise prohibited by federal court preferences, NIGP recommends that local 
procurement preferences are reflected as one of many criteria in a ‘best value’ evaluation and award 
process.  Best value means the most advantageous balance of price, quality, and performance identified 
through competitive procurement methods in accordance with stated selection criteria.  There is no 
uniform statutory or regulatory definition, but it generally refers to a source selection based upon a 
cost/benefit analysis.  The application of best value procurement to local purchasing preferences extends 
the concept of considering non-cost items in the evaluation process, and thereby provides the rational 
basis for including a geography-based criteria.   

38



Local Preference in Public Procurement 
June 2015 
Page 6 of 7 

APPENDIX A            

 
DEFINITIONS 

A local preference occurs when a local firm is favored in a procurement over non-local firms for reasons 
unrelated to the procurement itself, typically to support the local economy. 

Preference policy is a mandate by policy or ordinance that imposes legislative requirements in the public 
bidding process to award contracts to local suppliers. 

Selective purchasing is a decision by the government to avoid buying from certain companies based on 
their political, social, environmental, or in this case, geographical attributes. 

A multiplier effect is created when local economic activity is enhanced by a change in government 
spending.  This relationship is recognized as a multiplier effect in that an initial incremental amount of 
spending can lead to increased consumption spending, increasing income further and hence further 
increasing consumption, etc., resulting in an overall increase in local economic activity greater than the 
initial incremental amount of spending.  Certain types of government spending crowd out private 
investment or consumer spending that would have otherwise taken place. This crowding out can occur 
because the initial increase in spending may cause an increase in interest rates or in the price level.  
Effectiveness is based on economic linkages that cause funds to be retained in the local economy – not 
‘leaked’ out to other districts. 

 

TYPES OF LOCAL PREFERENCE PROGRAMS 

• “Second chance” bidding for local firms 
• Bidding or value “credits” that augment a local firms’ actual bid for the purpose of bid 

comparisons, such as percentage preferences (typically 1.5% to 10%) 
• Tie bid – allowing local firms to trump in a tie bid situation 
• Reciprocal – jurisdiction ‘matches’ the type and scope of preference enacted in locality where the 

bidder is based 
• Absolute - requires jurisdiction to purchase certain commodities within designated area 

 

39



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Spirit of America Award Selection  

DATE:  April 16, 2020 

 

During the February 11 council meeting, staff was directed to seek nominations for the 2020 

Spirit of America Award. Spirit of America Foundation is a 501(c)(3) public charity established 

in Augusta, ME in 1990 to honor volunteerism. The Spirit of America Foundation Tribute is 

presented in the name of Maine municipalities to local individuals, organizations and projects for 

commendable community service.  

 

The following nominations were received for Council consideration. I’ve attached additional 

information about the individuals’ efforts if provided by the nominator: 

 

Nominees Volunteer and Community Activities 

Dr. JP Michaud  They cut, groom, and maintain the wonderful trails at Cary 

Medical Center. I know that there are many people in the 

community who are grateful for the opportunity to enjoy the 

outdoors on beautifully maintained trails so close to town! – 

Melissa Swanberg 

Scott Walton 

Cuppy Johndro She volunteers, heads up activities for the community, goes out of 

her way to help when others are in need and is a strong advocate 

for fairness to all. Cuppy voluntarily runs the museum on Loring. 

She created the summer event where the bomber flew over. 

Hundreds showed up! I know she does a lot with the American 

Legion too. – Christina Kane-Gibson 

 

 

It is anticipated that the selected nominee will be more formally recognized by the Council at the 

next Council meeting. 

40



 

 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  

 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Bids for Public Work Materials and Work 

DATE:  April 17, 2020 

 

 

DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION ITEM  

 

Bids were requested for the following work/materials: 

 

1- 800 tons of bituminous concrete, (sandy mix) to be used for shim and patch 

2- Quick-drying, waterborne pavement marking paint TT-P-1952D Type II meeting 

minimum federal expectations 

3- 4,300, cubic yards of sand. 

4- Culverts of varying corrugation, material, fittings and dimensions 

5- Bituminous concrete, in the approximate amount of 2700 tons of 12.5 mm for the 2020 

paving season. Product must follow MDOT specification §401 method C. (A list of 

streets to be paved was provided upon request.) 

 

The bid closing date for each of these requests was April 17, 2020 @ 2pm. More detailed 

information about the bid responses will be provided at the Council meeting. 

41



 

 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  

 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Local Economic Stimulus Package 

DATE:  April 17, 2020 

 

 

DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION ITEM  

 

The Council has been discussing ways to help local businesses during this pandemic and 

economic freeze in the State. One of the ideas included using the city’s revolving loan fund to 

issue small affordable gap loans at reduced rates. Another idea was to infuse the local economy 

with a financial stimulus. At the same time, the Council has been considering ways to show its 

appreciation to the city staff for their efforts in 2019. 

 

In 2019 there was emphasis on reducing the city expenses and finding ways to generate more 

revenue without adding taxes. The Council reduced the expense budget by $46,500 and 

departments were asked to limit spending without reducing services. The departments responded 

positively with final results being expense savings over $202,000. Additionally, revenues 

exceeded expectations by more than $156,000. The Council utilized some of these funds to build 

up a rainy-day fund for the city. By city charter other amounts will be used to offset future taxes. 

All of these benefits would not be possible without the work of the city employees. 

 

To show appreciation to employees for their work and help the local economy, the Council has 

discussed providing a one-time fringe benefit to employees who were employed in 2019. This 

benefit would be $500 for full-time employees and $250 for permanent part-time employees. The 

caveat to receiving the benefit is that the employees must select from the 300+ local business 

from which to receive gift cards for the benefit amounts. Employees could select multiple 

businesses from which to receive the benefit. The total stimulus benefit will be less than $40,000. 

 

  

42



Expense

Capital

Income

Expense

Income

Capital

November December

Current Charter Budget Process

Old Charter Budget Process

June July AugustSeptember October January February March April May

Current Charter Budget Process

Previous Charter Budget Process

Oct 1st

Dept Expenses
Requested

Sept Expense 
Status Report

Oct 15
Dept Capital 
Requested

Manager 
Expense &

Capital to Council

Dec 15
Council Vote on 

Expense & 
Capital Budgets

Jan 31
Final Expense &

Capital to Citizens

Manager Final
Budget

Document

Apr. 30 
Income Projections 

to Council

Set Mil Rate

Manager 
Capital to Council

Manager 
Expense/Income 

to Council

Feb 28
Council Vote on 
Capital Budget

3rd Mon in March
Council Vote on 

Budget
Set Mil Rate

43



City Manager's Report
March 20, 2020

Economic Projects
60 Access Highway The property is under contract. Adminstration is working through title and lease items for a closing date of June 12, 2020.

Caribou Shopping Center Mr. Cassidy indicates there has been no additional movement on new tenants.

Porvair CDBG program The first reimbursement check for $16K was sent to Porvair. We continue to monitor their progress and job growth.

Events and Marketing
* Bands are lined up for Thursday on Sweden. Vacancies are built into the schedule in case the emergency order stays in effect through June.
* Christina is working with Councilor Cote on a Loring Job Corp media day
* We continue to get registrations for the marathon. We currently have 24 full, 76 half, 22 full-relay, 14 half relay, 22 kids. 

Blight Cleanup Ken is inputing all the survey data into the GIS. Maps of neighborhood blight will be ready for the first meeting in May

Hilltop Senior Living Interior work is on-going

Birdseye Cleanup Have a meeting with McGillan's on Wednesday at 10am to discuss additional work needed to finalize their contract with the city. 

Title 13 ReWrite Updates are on-going and the Planning Commission will review additional changes at their meeting in May.

COVID-19 Support

The City published business resource options on its facebook page and city website. The County Administrator has also started a facebook 
group, "COVID-19 Small Business Resource Group" where business owners are networking and sharing insights about federal and state aid 
processes. Several small businesses are reporting they've received PPP funds to help with payroll and utilities, but other help is needed for 
business who are renting space without income support.

Sitel Building
Sitel is currently working on a deal to sell their building. There is no indication from the purchaser what their intended use of the building may 
be.

River Front Development

Spoke with Brian Fields, an owner in the Atlantic Salmon for Northern Maine, Inc., who gave me a tour of the old federation building and CUD 
buildings around the power plant. He indicated that UMPI students are finalizing designs for their fish operations along the river. They are 
working on a master plan for the area that includes public greenspace and river access points. They were recently recognized by the Canadian 
federal government for their efforts and are working on funding options to move forward. Some sources include NOAA, EPA, DEP, and wildlife 
agencies. NMDC has brownfield funds available to investigate the powerplant properties and ASNM ground around it.

44



Other Administrative & Department Projects

COVID-19 Status

Maine CDC reports that Aroostook County still only has 2 cases with one of those having recovered and the other being a household member of 
the first. The CDC accidently reported a third case earlier this week. 
Departments continue to use social distancing in the office. Fire/EMS and Police continue to follow state mandated PPE protocols at public 
interactions.
The latest executive order from Governor Mills extends social distancing requirements until May 15. 
The RSU sent out a letter last week, indicating that schools will remain closed for the remainder of the school year.

Fire/EMS Contracts No work from Perham on their intent

Blight Commission
An outline of the final blight tools report has been prepared and the committee will now help fill in some of the details. Awaiting final blight 
survey mappings to polish off the report.

Public Safety Building Artifex Architects has reviewed suggestions from the Council during the previous work session. Indications are the Lion's building would not 
be functional or cost effective. Locating the new station on Bennett Drive or Birdseye can be explored.

Union Negotiations. PW mediation has been postponed until after the Governor's executive order expires. No date certain yet.
The response letter regarding the Police officers' union grievance was sent in timely fashion.

Procurement Policy This was submitted to the auditors. We're waiting for their response. The preferential bidding language to be considered by the Council will be 
incorporated into the final policy update.

2020 Budget
Managers across the state have expressed concern about cash flow and revenues due to economic downturn. Despite the current situation, 
Caribou's financial status remains consistent with the past 3 year average. We will continue to monitor this closely and update the council each 
month with the financial report.

Capital Facility Maintenance 
Plans

Criterium Brown will start in May to work on building inspections. The final reports will be received before September 1 so the information can 
be incorporated into the 2021 capital facilities budget package.

Fire/EMS Structural Study
The Council Building Maintenance committee held an electronic meeting with Sewell representative Jan Murchison on Wednesday, April 15. 95% 
Plans were reviewed.  The Council Building Maintenance Commtitee toured the fire station on Thursday afternoon to double check plan notes 
and comments. Committee comments are being drafted for incorporation into the final project scope.

LED Conversion In Q1 2019 we spent $29,315 for streetlight power. In Q1 of 2020 we spent $5,927 for streetlights. A cost savings of $23,388. 

Snow Plowing RFP This has taken a back burner to COVID-19 and Title 13 work.

Wage and Classification Policy. This has taken a back burner to COVID-19 and Title 13 work.

Cable Franchise Renewal This will be discussed in executive session with the City Council during the upcoming meeting. 

45



General Plan Update This is on hold until additional blight study work is completed.

River Road
DuBois and king is refining their drainage calculations and should have final plans soon. They've provided the area calculations we need to 
continue discussions with Dr. Chomka.

High Street all work has stopped until spring 2020

Teague Park Contractor for the school project is currently working to finish the rec building
North Main Street 
Reconstruction Public Works is preppring sidewalk and curb areas ahead of the paving work to be done by Soderberg Construction.

46



    TAX   ASSESSMENT / BUILDING PERMIT   OFFICE 
CARIBOU,  MAINE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:   City Manager Dennis Marker & Caribou City Council 
From:   Penny Thompson, Tax Assessor / Chief Building Official 
Date:   April 14, 2020 
Re:   Tax Bill Customization / Insert pricing 
 
The tax billing process is a series of steps which begin when the tax rate and commitment 
date are set. After the bills are created in Trio by the tax assessment department, the output 
file is sent to be printed and mailed.  
 
Maine state law does not require that tax bills be sent to taxpayers. If a municipality issues 
tax bills, the bill must contain information required in 36 MRSA §§ 507 (1) – (4): 

1. The property tax bill must contain a statement or calculation that demonstrates the amount or 
percentage by which the taxpayer’s tax has been reduced by the distribution of state-municipal 
revenue sharing, state reimbursement for the Maine resident homestead property tax 
exemption and state aid for education. 

2. The property tax bill must indicate the percentage of local property taxes distributed to 
education, local and county government. 

3. The property tax bill must indicate the outstanding bonded indebtedness of the issuing 
municipality as of the date the bill is issued. 

4. Each property tax bill issued by a municipality must clearly state the date interest will begin to 
accrue on delinquent taxes. 

Municipalities may, by vote, determine the rate of interest that shall apply to taxes that 
become delinquent during a particular taxable year until those taxes are paid in full. The 
maximum rate that may be charged per 36 MRSA § 505.4 for the 2020 taxable year is 9.00% 
simple interest.   
The language to satisfy these requirements can be found on the tax bill here: 

 

25 High Street 
Caribou ME 04736 

(207) 493 – 3324 X 3 
FAX: 498-3954 

pthompson@cariboumaine.org 

  

 
 

47



 
Page 2 of 3 – Memo on Tax Bill Customization 

 
Discussion Point:  The outsource company, Hygrade Business Group, has indicated that 
the tax bills may be customized. Our account manager, John Briggs, indicated that the new 
customization should be set up well in advance as to limit delays during the billing process.  
 
Discussion Point:  If the council wishes to include a custom insert with the tax bills, on 
white paper or a colored paper, the prices are as follows. In 2019, the City of Caribou mailed 
4,778 tax bills. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Discussion Point:  Under 30-A MRSA § 706, the county commissioners issue their 
warrant for collection directly to the local assessor requiring the assessor to assess and 
commit to the tax collector the municipality’s share of the county tax. The tax assessor and 
tax collector serve as agents of the county for the purpose of assessing and collecting county 
taxes. No appropriation by the legislative body is necessary because the obligation to pay the 
county tax is statutory and independent of any local budget process.  The same is true for 
the assessment of a municipality’s share of the regional school unit under 20-A MRSA § 1489. 
 
On Monday July 29, 2019, the question of legislation allowing for a separate bill for the RSU 
was asked of the Maine Municipal Association and a reply was received which stated that 
“according to our State and Federal Relations Department, the bill in question was LD 236. It 
did not advance for consideration; it is a dead bill for now.” 
 
Discussion Point:  The 2020 County Tax Bill has been received and the amount due is 
$527,974.50. This is an increase of $23,686.50 over the 2019 County Tax Bill. 
 
Discussion Point:  RSU#39 is currently working on their budget. Maine’s funding 
formula calculates the share of the costs of Pre-K – 12 education between the State and Local 
based on the Essential Programs and Services (EPS) – the programs and resources that are 
essential for students to have an equitable opportunity to achieve Maine’s Learning Results. 
According to the Maine Department of Education website, “the funding formula is designed 
to respond to student needs and is based on years of research and information gleaned from 
high performing cost-effective school units.” The determined EPS for the RSU minus the State 
Share of those costs equals the required Local Share. (Note: Historically Caribou raises above 
and beyond what the state requires for local share).  
 
Each year, the tax assessment department reviews the RSU #39’s ED 279 Report to determine 
the amount of  state aid to education as required to calculate the percentages needed for 
inclusion on the tax bills. The “mil expectation” (based on the municipality’s state valuation) 
can be found on the ED 279 report. For the 2019 – 2020 school year it was 8.28. The 
preliminary ED 279 for the 2020 – 2021 school year projects a mil expectation of 8.18. Just 
using some simple math, the mil rate attributed to the RSU in 2019 was 10.43 (42.5% of 24.55). 

1-sided, black & white $0.12/EA 
1-sided, color $0.19/EA 
2-sided, black & white $ 0.15/EA 
2-sided, color $0.24/EA 
2-sided, one side black & white and one side color $0.21/EA 
 

48



 
Page 3 of 3 – Memo on Tax Bill Customization 

 
 
Next Steps:   Until such time as the law changes in Maine, the City of Caribou must 
raise the municipality’s share of both the Aroostook County budget and the Regional School 
Unit # 39 costs as set forth in the warrants issued to the assessors. The City Council may 
make changes to the tax bill that is mailed to taxpayers, include an insert or both. 
 
Please let the department know how to proceed so that plans can be made accordingly. As 
always, feel free to contact me if you have additional questions. 
 

   
 
Direct line: (207) 493 – 5961  E-mail address: pthompson@cariboumaine.org 
   

49

mailto:pthompson@cariboumaine.org

	Local Procurement Preference 2015 150608
	Bibliography


